SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-00081



BILLY NELSON AND GAYNELLE NELSON, Individually and as Parents and Next Friends of JUSTIN NELSON, and as Representatives of All Wrongful Death Beneficiaries and Heirs of BOBBY NELSON, Deceased OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLANTS - PLAINTIFFS

VS.

BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-NORTH MISSISSIPPI, INC.; WILLIAM E. HENDERSON, JR., M.D., OXFORD CLINIC FOR WOMEN, a Partnership; IRA LAMAR COUEY, MD., General Partner; R. BLAKE SMITH, MD., General Partner; WILLIAM E. HENDERSON, JR., M.D., General Partner; and JOHN DOES 1 THROUGH 10

APPELLEES-DEFENDANTS

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS-PLAINTIFFS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The trial court failed to properly apply the law of the case, and specifically failed to follow this Court's findings that Plaintiffs' Complaint filed on July 9, 2003, tolled the running of the statute of limitations, and that dismissal should have been without prejudice so as to allow Plaintiffs to re-institute their case within the five (5) days remaining before the expiration of the statute of limitations.¹
- 2. The trial court erred in finding that the statute of limitations had expired and dismissing Plaintiffs' case with prejudice.
- 3. The trial court failed to find that the Defendants are bound by their affirmative statements that the statute of limitations did not commence to run until the date of the minor's death and Defendants' affirmative statements waived their statute-of-limitations defenses to the contrary.
- 4. Proper application of *Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc.*, 933 So.2d 923 (Miss. 2006), requires a finding that the statute of limitations commenced to run two years after the date of death, or if given the strict application sought by Defendants, the statute commenced to run on the date of birth and expired eight (8) years after the date of birth. See, Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36.

Х

¹ Note: References to the record are as follows: Record Excerpts - R.Ex.; Record - R

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case returns to this Court on the second appeal of the same issues determined by this Court on the first appeal. The lower court's dismissal of the Plaintiffs' original Complaint with prejudice was first considered by this Court and reversed in Nelson v. Baptist Memorial Hospital-North Mississippi, Inc., 972 So.2d 667 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), reh. den., cert. den., 973 So.2d 244 (2008) [hereinafter Nelson I]. Promptly following this Court's mandate issued on January 24, 2008, and consistent with the Appellate Court's opinion stating that five days remained on the statute of limitations, within those (5) five days, Plaintiffs gave notice and waited the requisite sixty (60) days, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann., Sec. 15-1-36 and re-filed their complaint in the Circuit Court for Lafavette County, Mississippi on March 26, 2008. (R.Ex.4,pp.010-044,R.1-35) Wholly disregarding the directives in Nelson I, Defendants filed their Motions to Dismiss and sought from the trial court a redetermination of the same points of law that were expressly rejected by both appellate courts (Mississippi Court of Appeals and the Mississippi Supreme Court by denial of certiorari). (R.53-58,59-71,100-120,121-125,126-132)

Defendants also asked the trial court to apply Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc., 933 So.2d 923 (Miss. 2006), rehearing denied, in such a way to require a finding that the statute of limitations expired two years after the birth of the infant child, rather than two years from the date of his death.

The trial court, as urged by the Defendants, disregarded the findings set forth in *Nelson I*, and rendered identical rulings it made in the first case, which were reversed by this Court, and entered its Opinion and Order Dismissing This Cause with Prejudice on July 2, 2008, same as in *Nelson I*. (R.Ex.2, R.457-460) Contrary to the directives by this Court in *Nelson I*, the trial court found that the Plaintiffs' Complaint filed July 9, 2003, did not toll the statute of limitations and that the Plaintiffs were time barred to file their Complaint. Upon denial of their Motion for Reconsideration (R.Ex.3,p.008-009, R.375-376), the Nelsons timely appealed to this Court. (R.578-589)

¹"Assuming proper service of process, filing a complaint tolls the statute of limitations until a suit's dismissal." *Nelson I*, 972 So.2d 667,671 (\P 9).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Once again, this case comes before this Court – same case, same issues, same allegations and same parties. *See, Nelson v. Baptist Memorial Hosp.-North Miss., Inc.*, 972 So.2d 667 (Miss. App. 2007) (also included in Record Excerpt 4,pp.025-036). In *Nelson I*, this Court found that Plaintiffs' complaint was timely filed (July 9, 2003) before the expiration of the two year statute of limitations (July 14, 2003). The Appellate Court also found that Plaintiffs' complaint should have been dismissed without prejudice and reversed the trial court's dismissal with prejudice. (R.Ex.4 pp.,R.16-25) Subsequent to *Nelson I*, this Court has issued even more clear directives regarding the propriety of dismissal without prejudice for failure to provide pre-suit notice.

Recently in *Williams v. Skelton*, 6 So. 3d 428 (Miss. 2009), citing, *Arceo v. Tolliver*, 949 So. 2d 691 (Miss. 2006), this Court granted certiorari for the sole purpose of correcting the Court of Appeals' dismissal with prejudice. This Court held that a plaintiffs' "complaint should have been dismissed without prejudice for her failure to comply with the pre-suit requirements." *Williams*, at 430 (¶7)(emphasis supplied).

Even more recently, in *Price v. Clark, et al* __ So. 3d __(Miss. 2009) (decided July 23, 2009), this Court said that: "a properly served complaint, albeit a complaint that is wanting of proper pre-suit notice-should still serve to toll the statute of limitations...." (*Price* Opin. dec. July 23, 2009 at p. 20, ¶ 30)

Contrary to the directives from this Court, Defendants, again, sought dismissal based on the same issues. And, the trial court, once again, dismissed Plaintiffs' claims with prejudice for Plaintiffs' failure to give the required sixty (60) days notice on July 9, 2003.

Dismissal without prejudice ordinarily imports the contemplation of further proceedings and prevents Defendants from availing themselves of the defense of res judicata in another action by the same plaintiff on the same subject matter. *Cole v. Fagan*, 108 Miss. 100, 66 So. 400; *W.T. Raleigh Co. v. Barnes*, 143 Miss. 597, 600, 109 So. 8 (1926); *Wilson & Gray v. May Pants Co.*, 37 So. 813 (Miss. 1905). In *Nelson I*, the Plaintiffs' Complaint was found not to be barred by time. The Court's reversal and dismissal without prejudice contemplated the Plaintiffs' re-commencing these proceedings within the five (5) days remaining on the applicable statute of limitations. *Nelson I*, 972 So. 2d 667 at 673, (¶ 22).

Further, in the court below and throughout appeal, the Defendants in *Nelson*I repeatedly stated that Plaintiffs' initial Complaint was filed five (5) days before
the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations for the wrongful death of the
minor infant (these arguments are set out in detail on pages 29-31 of this brief).
Only in motions for rehearing in *Nelson I* did Defendants raise, for the first time,
that the statute of limitations commenced to run on the date of the birth of the
infant child (April 25, 2001), rather than the date of his death (July 14, 2001).

Mistakenly relying on *Jenkins v. Pensacola Health and Trust*, 933 So.2d 923 (Miss. 2006), and wholly disregarding Mississippi Code Annotated, § 15-1-36(3) set forth below, Defendants asserted that the statute of limitations commenced to run on the date of birth, rather than the date of death of the infant child, and expired two years later on April 25, 2003.

Miss Code Ann. § 15-1-36(3) provides in pertinent part the following:

(3) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (4) of this section, if at the time at which the cause of action shall or with reasonable diligence might have been first known or discovered, the person to whom such claim has accrued shall be six (6) years of age or younger, then such minor or the person claiming through such minor may, notwithstanding that the period of time limited pursuant to subsections (1) and (2) of this section shall have expired, commence action on such claim at any time within two (2) years next after the time at which the minor shall have reached his sixth birthday, or shall have died, whichever shall have first occurred. (Emphasis added)

Miss Code Ann. § 15-1-36(3).

It is clear that Defendants' application of *Jenkins* in this manner is misplaced. The *Jenkins* decision does not alter the applicable statute of limitations for this case, and does not bar Plaintiffs' claims. In fact the *Jenkins* decision, read in conjunction with the above statute, clearly provides that **if** the statute of limitations commenced to run on April 25, 2001, the right to sue and the cause of action belonged to the infant, not the parents and sibling. If the cause of action belonged to the child, then pursuant to Miss. Code Ann., § 15-1-36(3), the statute of limitations for the infant child was six years, plus two, causing the statute of

limitations to expire April 25, 2009. Clearly, Plaintiffs' claims were filed well within the applicable statute of limitations.

Moreover, Defendants have waived their jaundiced defense through their delay in raising the issue, their failure to seek review of the trial court's findings in *Nelson I*, and their numerous affirmative statements made before this Court and the trial court, alleging that the statute of limitations commenced to run on the date of the infant's death.

Finally, contrary to Defendants' assertions, *Jenkins* created no remedy that was not at all times available to Defendants. The *Jenkins'* Court stated: "[S]ince 1999, this Court has followed the precedent set by *Thiroux* and *Thompson*." *Jenkins* 933 So.2d 923, at 926 (¶ 11). Assuming *arguendo* that *Jenkins* did create a new remedy, Defendants have waived their right to raise avail themselves of this defense. For more than a year after *Jenkins* was rendered, Defendants continued to make affirmative statements that the statute of limitations commenced to run on the date of the infant child's death. When Defendants did raise the issue, albeit belatedly, in their motions for rehearing, the Court of Appeals rejected those arguments, as did the Supreme Court on Defendants' motions for a certiorari review. (R.Ex.4,p.035)

Accordingly, Defendants are bound by the findings by the lower court and, more specifically, by the findings of this Court in *Nelson I*. The Courts' findings as to the statute of limitations became the law of the case.

Regardless of the application, *Jenkins* does not bar Plaintiffs' claims. According to *Jenkins*, the statute of limitations for the underlying tort was eight years and Plaintiffs' claims were timely filed, or in the alternative, as provided by the statute, the statute of limitations was two years and that date commenced to run on the date of the infant's death, July 14, 2001.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion to dismiss under MRCP 12(b) raises an issue of law. Harris v. Miss. Valley State Univ., 873 So. 2d 970, 988 (¶ 54), Young v. Sherrod, 919 So.2d 145, 148 (¶ 8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); Newell v. Southern Jitney Jungle Co., 830 So.2d 621, 623 (¶ 5) (Miss. 2002); T.M. v. Noblitt, 650 So.2d 1340, 1342 (Miss. 1995); Tucker v. Hinds County, 558 So.2d 869 (Miss. 1990); Lester Engineering Co. v. Richland Water and Sewer District, 504 So.2d 1185, 1187 (Miss. 1987). This Court reviews questions of law with a de novo standard of review. Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher, 926 So.2d 890 (¶¶ 3, 4)(Miss. 2006); Richardson v. Sara Lee Corp., 847 So.2d 821, 823 (¶ 5)(Miss. 2003); Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So.2d 719, 721 (¶ 5) (Miss. 2002); Bilbo v. Thigpen, 647 So.2d 678, 688 (Miss. 1994); UHS-Qualicare, Inc. v. Gulf Coast Community Hospital, Inc., 525 So.2d 746, 754 (Miss. 1987). When reviewing a trial court's grant or denial of a motion to dismiss, this Court applies a de novo standard of review. Foss v. Williams, 993 So.2d 378 (¶ 17) (Miss. 2008),

rehearing denied (citing Burleson v. Lathem, 968 So.2d 930, 932 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2007)).

The trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss based upon the statute of limitations presents a question of law to which this Court also applies de novo review. *Champluvier v. Beck*, 909 So.2d 1061, 1063 (¶ 10) (Miss. 2004)(citing *Sarris v. Smith*, 782 So.2d 721, 723 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2001); *Parmley v. Pringle*, 976 So.2d 422, 423 (¶ 5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)(citing *Anderson v. R & D Foods, Inc.*, 913 So.2d 394, 397 (¶ 7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

Motions to dismiss are converted to summary judgments when the judge considers matters outside the pleadings before the Court. The Court also reviews motions for summary judgment using a de novo standard. *Deere & Co. v. First Nat. Bank of Clarksdale*, ___ So.3d ___, 2009 WL 1691510 (¶ 23) (Miss. 2009) (citing *Treasure Bay Corp. v. Ricard*, 967 So.2d 1235, 1238 (Miss. 2007)). A motion for summary judgment may be granted only if "there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id. The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Flores v. Elmer*, 938 So.2d 824 (¶ 7)(Miss. 2006)(citing *McKinley v. Lamar Bank*, 919 So.2d 918, 926 (Miss. 2005).

When considering a motion to dismiss, the allegations in the Complaint must be taken as true and the motion should not be granted unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of his claim. Scaggs v. GPCH-GP, Inc., 931 So.2d 1274, 1275 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2006). This Court has cautioned that trial courts are not to try issues, but to determine whether there are issues which should be tried. Townsend v. Estate of Gilbert, 616 So.2d 333, 335 (Miss. 1993). Furthermore, it is well-settled that motions for summary judgment are to be viewed with a skeptical eye, and if error is to be committed, it should be in denying the motion. Crum v. Johnson, 809 So.2d 663 (Miss. 2002).

The decision before the Court is not dependent on resolution of any factual dispute which should be submitted to a finder of fact. Therefore, the question before the Court is one of law, which is reviewed de novo. *Pope v. Brock*, 912 So.2d 935, 936 (¶ 3) (Miss. 2005) *rehearing denied*; *Sarris v Smith*, 782 So.2d 721, 723 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2001).

The question here is a matter of procedure and law; the law, as applied by the lower court, was incorrect and therefore the lower court's judgment must be overturned regardless of the standard. Furthermore, looking de novo, the question of law was incorrectly concluded, and since the lower court misapprehended the law and refused to follow the dictates by this Court, it was an abuse of discretion to dismiss Plaintiffs' Complaint with prejudice.

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REVIEWING AND RECONSIDERING ARGUMENTS PREVIOUSLY REJECTED BY THESE APPELLATE COURTS IN NELSON I.

Defendants mistakenly place their faith upon the procedural technicalities to shield them from the effect of the doctrine of the "law of the case," which applies to all subsequent stages of the proceedings. Otherwise, as stated by the New Mexico court, why should appellate courts write opinions if they are not to be followed and only the ultimate issue is binding (see Argument II for discussion of the use of Mexico law. It will not be repeated here). It is not a rule to which the courts are bound by any legislative enactment. *Farmers' State Bank*, 31 N.M. 344, 245 P. 543, 548. In New Mexico, the doctrine allows some latitude where the substitution of parties would promote the interests of justice. The doctrine has also been applied in concurrent actions where these requisites are met. *Tally v. Ganahl, supra; Portland Trust Co. v. Coulter*, 23 Or. 131, 31 P. 280, 282 (1892); *Wilkes v. Davies*, 8 Wash. 112, 116-120, 35 P. 611, 612-614 (1894).

Moreover, in Continental Turpentine & Rosin Co. v. Gulf Naval Stores Co., 244 Miss. 465, 142 So. 2d 200 (Miss. 1962) (a case relied upon by Defendants), the Court did not find the doctrine inapplicable to the second action: only that the doctrine could not apply where the facts and evidence had changed. In the case sub judice, neither facts nor evidence have changed.

In Anderson v. R & D Foods, Inc., 913 So.2d 394 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005), the Court of Appeals, following the Supreme Court established decision, stated the rule of the doctrine:

While the 'law of the case' doctrine is not an inexorable command, a decision of a legal issue or issues by an appellate court establishes the 'law of the case' and must be followed in all subsequent proceedings in the same case in the trial court or on a later appeal in the appellate court, unless the evidence on a subsequent trial was substantially different, controlling authority has since made a contrary decision of the law applicable to such issues, or the decision was clearly erroneous and would work a manifest injustice.

Anderson, 913 So.2d at 400 (¶ 18). Put another way, the mandate issued by an appellate court is binding on the trial court on remand, unless the case comes under one of the exceptions to the law of the case doctrine. This "mandate rule" is a specific application of the law of the case doctrine. Nelson v. Bonner, ____ So.3d ____, 2009 WL 2152324 (¶ 5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) citing Dunn v. Dunn, 695 So.2d 1152, 1155 (Miss.1997)); Also see Leggett v. Badger, 798 F.2d 1387 (11th Cir. 1986).

Furthermore, exceptions to the law of the case doctrine such as "material changes in evidence, pleadings or findings" as outlined in *Continental Turpentine*, or the need for the Court to "depart from its former decision" "after mature consideration" so that "unjust results" will not occur as described in *Brewer v. Browning*, 115 Miss. 358, 364, 76 So. 267, 269 (1917), do not exist in the case *sub*

judice. Moreover, there is no new law or manifest injustice that would require an exception to proper application of the doctrine.

Questions of law determined on the first appeal now become the law of the case, both for trial and appellate court, on this appeal. The previous appellate decision reversed the trial court and dismissed the Plaintiff's Complaint without prejudice. A dismissal without prejudice "prevent[s] the dismissal from operating as a bar to any new suit which the plaintiff might thereafter desire to bring on the same cause of action." Ballentine's Law Dictionary with Pronunciations, 2d (1948) 834 citing W.T. Raleigh Co. v. Barnes, 143 Miss. 597, 600, 109 So. 8 (1926); Cole v. Fagan, 108 Miss 100, 66 So 400 (1914).

The phrase "without prejudice" ordinarily imports the contemplation of further proceedings and works to prevent Defendants from availing themselves of the defense of res judicata in another action by the same plaintiff on the same subject matter. *Cole*, 108 Miss. 100, 66 So. 400; *W.T. Raleigh Co. v. Barnes*, 143 Miss. 597, 600, 109 So. 8 (1926); *Wilson & Gray v. May Pants Co.*, 37 So. 813 (Miss. 1905). Here, the reversal of the trial court's judgment and finding that dismissal of the Plaintiffs' original Complaint should be **without** prejudice, allowed the Plaintiffs to give notice and file their complaint in accordance with the remaining time applicable to their statute of limitations. If Plaintiffs' Complaint on the first appeal had been time barred, this Court would obviously have affirmed the

dismissal with prejudice, rather than making the conscious and deliberate decision to reverse and find dismissal without prejudice.

The decision in *Nelson I* intended that Plaintiffs be allowed to re-institute their proceedings all within the five (5) days remaining on the applicable statute of limitations. "Dismissal without prejudice prevents the plaintiff from being barred from filing a new suit on the same cause of action." Nelson I, 972 So. 2d 667 at 673, ¶ 22. "Their (Plaintiffs) failure to attach the attorney certificate and to file sixty day notice do not rise to the level of egregiousness sufficient to warrant dismissal with prejudice." Nelson I, at 674 (¶ 23) (emphasis added). There is no doubt that in *Nelson I*, the Court of Appeals followed the conscious and deliberate holding of the Supreme Court in Arceo v. Tolliver, supra, at 698 (¶ 16). Upon request for rehearing and clarification, this Court in Arceo denied rehearing, but modified the original opinion and substituted dismissal without prejudice, rather than dismissal with prejudice. Arceo, supra, at 692 (¶ 1) and 698 (¶ 16). The changing of with prejudice to without prejudice was the only change made in the reissued opinion by this Court.

There is no question that the *Nelson I* decision was the result of a conscious and deliberate act to allow Plaintiffs an opportunity to re-institute their proceedings within the five (5) remaining days on the applicable statute of limitations. "Finding error, we reverse and dismiss **without** prejudice." (Emphasis added) *Nelson I*, (\P 1).

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