IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-00081

BILLY NELSON AND GAYNELLE NELSON, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PARENTS AND NEXT FRIENDS OF JUSTIN NELSON, A MINOR, AND AS REPRESENTATIVES OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF BOBBY NELSON, DECEASED

APPELLANTS/PLAINTIFFS

VS.

BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-NORTH MISSISSIPPI, INC.; WILLIAM E. HENDERSON, JR., M.D. GENERAL PARTNER; OXFORD CLINIC FOR WOMEN, A PARTNERSHIP; IRA LAMAR COUEY, M.D., GENERAL PARTNER; R. BLAKE SMITH, M.D., GENERAL PARTNER; AND JOHN DOES 1 THROUGH 10

APPELLEES/DEFENDANTS

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

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

In June, 2004, that complaint was dismissed by the trial court on several grounds, one of which was a finding by the trial court that the Nelsons did not serve process on the doctors or their clinic. After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court determined and held not only that Plaintiffs had failed to give Defendants the required prior written notice and failed to certify their consultation with a qualified expert witness, but that the doctors and clinic had not been served with process; and that the two year statute of limitations had expired. The trial court, therefore, dismissed the suit with prejudice as time-barred; the Nelsons appealed.

In its decision in *Nelson I*, the Court of Appeals affirmed that the Nelsons' failure to comply with <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u> § 15-1-36(15) was an "inexcusable deviation" from that statute's requirement to provide notice before filing their complaint, warranting dismissal. *Nelson*, 972 So.2d at 673 (¶

17). Likewise, with regard to the certificate of consultation with an expert required by <u>Miss. Code.</u> <u>Ann.</u> § 11-1-58(1), the Court of Appeals agreed that the Nelson's failure to file the required certificate with their complaint properly called for the claim to have been dismissed. The Court of Appeals upheld the dismissal but concluded that the dismissal should have been without prejudice for the Nelsons' failure to comply with those two statutes. The *Nelson I* court did not address the statute of limitations, nor did it reverse the trial court's finding that the doctors had not been served with process.

Following that ruling by the Court of Appeals and the denials of the defendants' motions for rehearing and petitions for writs of certiorari, the Nelsons filed a second complaint based upon the identical allegations of negligence they originally sued upon. Plaintiffs contend that the Court of Appeals' decision in *Nelson I* granted them license to again pursue their cause of action in a second complaint.

Plaintiffs' theory of why they should succeed in their appeal of this second case, at least as against the doctors and clinic, is premised upon their fallacious argument and representation that the doctors and clinic were, in fact, served with process of their first complaint. Necessary to every argument made and every case cited by Plaintiffs in that regard is the <u>assumption of proper service</u> of process. Even the Court in *Nelson I* acknowledged that "Assuming proper service of process, filing a complaint tolls the statute of limitations until a suit's dismissal." *Nelson*, 972 So.2d at 671 (¶ 9). (Emphasis added). However, the Nelsons [appear to have] intentionally omitted the words "Assuming proper service of process" when they cite that same quote from the *Nelson I* court at page 15 of their brief.

Fatal to their contention that they did serve process on the doctors is the undisputed fact that the trial court, after an evidentiary hearing on the matter, ruled as a matter of law that process had not been served upon the doctors or the clinic. That finding and ruling by the trial court was not reversed or otherwise disturbed by the Court of Appeals in *Nelson I*. Since it was left undisturbed, that ruling by the trial court remains the law of the case, and it applies to this appeal of the dismissal of the Nelsons' second lawsuit on the same cause of action.

At the heart of this appeal, then, lies the issue of statute of limitations applicable to the Nelsons' cause of action: when the statute of limitations began to run; if anything occurred to toll the running of the statute of limitations; and even if so, if the statute of limitations began to run again and then expired. Plaintiffs contend that the statute of limitations began to run on the date of Bobby Nelson's death. Although that issue was contested at the trial court level after Plaintiffs' first appeal, in light of several, more recent holdings by the Mississippi Supreme Court, cited above (*Caves* and *McGee*), the doctors agree that July 14, 2001, the date of Bobby Nelson's death, was the date for the beginning of the statute of limitations for the Nelsons' wrongful death claims.³

The Nelsons contend that when they filed their first complaint on July 9, 2003, the statute of limitations was tolled with five days remaining in it. Defendants contend that because Plaintiffs failed to comply with two statutory prerequisites before they filed their first complaint, the filing of that complaint did nothing to toll the statute of limitations, because the complaint was a legal nullity, resulting in the expiration of the statute of limitations five days later.

Although, generally speaking, the proper filing of a complaint may ordinarily toll the statute of limitations, if service of process is not effected on a defendant within the time prescribed by law

Insofar as at least some of Plaintiffs' survival claims are concerned, the doctors contend that the statute of limitations may have begun to run as early as the date of Bobby Nelson's birth. However, that specific issue is not before the Court on this appeal. Nevertheless, the outcome should be the same, since the statute of limitation for those claims would [also] have expired before Plaintiffs filed their first complaint.

(and any extensions thereof which may be granted), then any unexpired portion of the statute of limitations begins to run anew. If the statute of limitations thereby expires without process having been served, then the expiration of the statute of limitations is a procedural bar of the claim against any defendant not served with process. Even assuming for argument's sake that the filing of their first complaint did toll the statute of limitations (despite their failure to comply with the two abovementioned statutorily required prerequisites), Plaintiffs still were required to serve process within the time prescribed by law. They failed to do so on the doctors and their clinic.

The Nelsons did not serve any of the defendants within the first 120 days after they filed their first complaint. They were granted an additional 90 days within which to serve process, during which time they did serve process on the defendant hospital, but during which time they did not serve the doctors. When process was not served on the doctors, and when the abovementioned 210th day expired, the five days remaining in the statute of limitations began to run again and expired five days later.

In Plaintiffs' first lawsuit, the trial court heard evidence from the doctors' office manager, who testified that she never had been the agent for service of process for any of the doctors or the clinic; and that when an unidentified person who turned out to be a process server left some unidentified documents with her, she did not know until the process server had left the clinic that the documents were summons and a complaint. The trial court, therefore, found and ruled that process had not been served on the doctors or their clinic, and that the statute of limitations [had] subsequently expired. That finding and ruling by the trial court was not reversed or disturbed by the Court of Appeals in *Nelson I*, and there was never any showing that the trial judge had abused his discretion in making that ruling.

Even if pursuant to M.R.C.P. 4(h) the trial court had dismissed without prejudice Plaintiffs' first complaint for failure to serve process on the doctors, the result would have been the same. After the 210 days within which to serve process expired by which time the doctors and their clinic were not served with process, the five days remaining in the statute of limitations would still have begun to run and expired in February, 2004. The trial court entered its order dismissing Plaintiffs' first lawsuit in June, 2004 for that very reason (among others), because the statute of limitations had expired with no process having been served upon the doctors.

Although the Nelsons may have been allowed to file a second complaint based upon the Court of Appeals' ruling, that ruling did not alter the trial court's determination that process was never effected on the doctors and their clinic; nor does it change the fact that the statute of limitations, therefore, began to run again and expired against the clinic doctors. The *Nelson I* Court did not make any finding that Plaintiffs' first complaint tolled the statute of limitations. The fact that the statute of limitations expired several years before the Plaintiffs filed their second complaint is ample reason that the trial court's dismissal with prejudice of the second complaint was proper, if not for all the defendants then certainly for the doctors and their clinic.

In addition, as mentioned, the Nelsons never sought further appellate review of the Court of Appeals' not finding that the trial court was in error and not reversing or remanding the trial court's ruling that process was never effected on the doctors. Plaintiffs should not now, in this appeal of their second, separate and subsequent lawsuit, be allowed to challenge the trial court's ruling on that issue that arose in their first lawsuit. That ruling by the trial court, which went undisturbed by the Court of Appeals, should remain the law of the case.

B. Law of the Case:

Concerning the issue of the "law of the case", just as it was in Wilner v. White, 929 So.2d 343

(Miss. App. 2005), it is the "reach" of the Court of Appeals' decision in Nelson I that is "one of the

central disputes now on the second appeal." Id. at 346 (¶ 5). (Emphasis added).

The doctrine of the law of the case is similar to that of former adjudication, relates entirely to questions of law, and is confined in its operation to subsequent proceedings in the case. Whatever is once established as the controlling legal rule of decision, between the same parties in the same case, continues to be the law of the case, so long as there is a similarity of facts. ...

...When an appellate court considers a second appeal in a case that it previously reviewed, its prior holdings usually are not to be changed. *Id.* at \P 6. (citations omitted).

Plaintiffs devote approximately half of their brief to the "law of the case" and whether or not the applicable statute of limitations began to run on the date of Bobby Nelson's birth or on the date of his death. They also erroneously state that "**Defendants' argument** that the law of the case does not apply to this case is based on **their assertion** that this is not the same case that was filed on July 9, 2003." (**Emphasis** added). (Nelsons' Brief p. 20).

An example of what the doctors mention in their Preliminary Remarks concerning Plaintiffs' referring to "Defendants" as if they are all one-and-the-same, it is not and never has been the assertion or the argument of the doctors that this is not the "same case" as in Plaintiffs' first complaint, or that the "law of the case" established by the court in *Nelson I* does not apply to Plaintiffs' second complaint. The doctors have also never cited or relied upon the case of *Continental Turpentine & Resin Co. v. Gulf Naval Stores, Co.*, 244 Miss. 465, 142 So.2d 200 (Miss. 1962) upon which Plaintiffs assert that "Defendants rely" on p. 22 of their brief. The doctors agree, as Plaintiffs state, that "...**this is the same case**." (Nelson's Brief p. 21) (**emphasis** in original)

insofar as the facts and allegations of the underlying cause of action that gave rise to both complaints are concerned - that is, the alleged wrongful death of Bobby Nelson. It is also the "same case" as far as the statute of limitations is concerned.

However, the doctors disagree with what Plaintiffs contend that the the "law of the case" means or allows in the case *sub judice*. The Nelsons give too much "reach" to the *Nelson I* decision when they opine that the Court of Appeals "...**intended** that Plaintiffs be allowed to reinstate their proceedings **all** within the five (5) days remaining on the applicable statute of limitations." (Nelsons' Brief p. 13) (**Emphasis** added). Although the *Nelson I* court's reversal of the trial court's dismissal without prejudice may have allowed Plaintiffs to file another complaint, there was no ruling by the *Nelson I* court that the Nelsons' failure to comply with the two subject statutorily required prerequisites tolled the statute of limitations. Such a holding or "law of the case" is nowhere expressed in the *Nelson I* court's decision. Likewise, the doctors certainly disagree that the Court of Appeal's ruling in *Nelson I* allowed Plaintiffs to "correct" any failure to serve the doctors and their clinic with process in their first lawsuit, when they did not do so before the statute of limitations expired.

With respect to Plaintiffs'arguments regarding the defendants' positions as to when the statute of limitations began to run (primarily addressing *Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc.*, 933 So. 2d 923 (Miss. 2006)), at least insofar as the doctors are concerned as abovementioned, the doctors now agree that the statute of limitations for Plaintiffs' wrongful death claims began to run on the date of Bobby Nelson's death. However, regardless of whether the statute of limitations for Plaintiffs' claims began to run on the date of birth, the date of death or somewhere in between, the doctors have never waived any defense with regard to the [expiration of the] statute limitations. It is and has always been their contention that regardless of when the statute of limitations began, the

statute subsequently expired against the doctors, if for no other reason than because they were not served with process.

In their Motion to Dismiss [the Nelsons' first Complaint], their very first pleading filed in response to Plaintiffs' first complaint, the doctors not only raised the issue of Plaintiffs' failure to comply with \S 15-1-36(15) and 11-1-58(1), they specifically and expressly raised the defense of the expiration of the statute of limitations. As the doctors argued in that motion:

"9. In [the] meantime and in addition to Plaintiffs' non-compliance with [any] of the abovementioned laws of the state of Mississippi, Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, and Order of this Court, any tolling of the statute of limitations which may have occurred has ceased, thereby allowing the statute of limitations to have begun to run again, and to have expired, thus barring this and any subsequent claim against these defendants based upon the allegations herein." (Record p. 115): (Emphasis added).

Also from the very beginning, in response to both of Plaintiffs' complaints, and despite whether or not the statute of limitations began to run on the date of Bobby Nelson's birth or of his death, the doctors have contended, and the trial court has ruled, that service of process was not effected on the doctors after the first complaint was filed and before the statute of limitations expired. As to Plaintiffs' argument at page 36 of their brief that "The trial court in its opinion **on return of this case** made no ruling as to defendant doctors' and clinic's arguments regarding the service of process." (**emphasis** added), the trial court had already ruled upon that issue twice, once in the trial court's June 18, 2004 order dismissing Plaintiffs' first complaint, and again in its September 27, 2005 order denying Plaintiffs' motion for reconsideration; and the *Nelson I* court did not reverse or remand that ruling of the trial court.

There was no reason for the trial court to again rule on that issue in Plaintiffs' second lawsuit, and it is untimely for Plaintiffs to now appeal the trial court's ruling regarding service of process of their first complaint, especially when they failed to seek further appellate review of the Court of Appeals' decision regarding that issue in *Nelson I*. However, if this Court is going to consider that issue now, in this appeal, then the Court must also consider the transcript of the hearing which the trial court held on May 24, 2004, at which the trial court heard testimony of the doctors' office manager. The Nelsons did not make that hearing's transcript a part of their record on this appeal. The doctors, therefore, moved to supplement the record with a transcript of that hearing, should this Court consider the issue of service of process in the first lawsuit and review whether or not the trial judge abused his discretion in making that ruling.

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